## UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT DISTRICT OF DELAWARE

In re

CD LIQUIDATION CO., LLC, f/k/a CYNERGY DATA, LLC, et al.,

Debtors.

Chapter 11

Case No. 09-13038 (KG)

Hearing Date: October 30, 2012

Hearing Time: 10:00 A.M.

## OBJECTION BY MARCELO PALADINI TO MOTION BY MONERIS SOLUTIONS AND BMO HARRIS BANK NA TO ENFORCE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT AND FOR RELATED RELIEF

ASCHETTINO STRUHS LLP Stephen A. Aschettino (SA4072)(admission pending) Naomi D. Johnson (NJ1566)(admission pending) 1500 Broadway, 21st Floor New York, New York 10036 Tel: (212) 354-7600

**ELLIOTT GREENLEAF** Eric M. Sutty 1105 Market Street, Suite 1700 Wilmington, Delaware 19801

Tel: (302) 384-9400 Fax: (302) 384-9399

Fax: (866) 260-5527

Attorneys for Marcelo Paladini



# TABLE OF CONTENTS

				<u>Page</u>			
TA	BLE C	F A	UTHORITIES	ii			
PRELIMINARY STATEMENT							
STA	ATEM	ENT	OF FACTS	4			
I.	THIS COURT LACKS JURISDICTION OVER THIS PROCEEDING ON THREE SEPARATE GROUNDS						
	A.		adini's Claims Against the Harris Defendants Were Specifically ved Out from the Settlement Order	9			
	В.		Bankruptcy Court Lacks Subject Matter Jurisdiction Over This pute	11			
		1.	This Is A Dispute Between Non-Debtor Parties	12			
		2.	This Is a Non-Core Proceeding Unrelated to the Debtors' Bankruptcy	13			
	C.	The	Harris Defendants' Motion Violates Bankruptcy Rule 7001	16			
II.	The S	SDN	Y Action Consists of Direct, Not Derivative, Claims	18			
	A.	The	Claims Against The Harris Defendants Are Personal	18			
III.	The Allegations in the Complaint Are In No Way Similar to Those Brought in the Martillo Action						
CO	NCLU	OIZ	N	26			

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES	(s)
CASES	
A.T. Massey Coal Co. v. Harman Dev. Corp. (In re Sovereign Coal Sales), Case No. 7-98-01992, 2000 Bankr. Lexis 2092 (Bankr. W.D. Va. Nov. 28, 2000)	19
Bankers Trust Co. v. Rhoades, 859 F.2d 1096 (2d Cir. 1988)	22
Bohlen v. United States, 623 F. Supp. 595 (C.D. III. 1985)	22
Caplin v. Marine Midland Grace Trust Co., 406 U.S. 416 (1972)	19
Celotex Corp. v. Edwards, 514 U.S. 300 (1995)	19
Cumberland Oil Corp. v. Thropp, 791 F.2d 1037 (2d Cir. 1986)	22
E.F. Hutton & Co. v. Hadley, 901 F.2d 979 (11th Cir. 1990)	23
Gibson v. Kassover (In re Kassover), No. 98-43124, 2008 WL 4845757 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. Oct. 30, 2008)	17
Goldin v. Primavera FamilienStiftung, Tag Assoc. (In re Granite Partners, L.P.), 194 B.R. 318 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 1996)	19
Goldstein v. Pataki, 516 F.3d 50 (2d Cir. 2008)	22
Hirsch v. Arthur Anderson & Co., 72 F.3d 1085 (2d Cir. 1995)20, 21, 2	23
Hunter v. Citibank, Case No. 09-02079, Dkt. No. 354, p. 8 (N.D. Cal. July 20, 2010)	22
In re CD Liquidation Co. LLC (December 21, 2010) (No. 09-13038)	12
In re Continental Airlines, 203 F.3d 203 (3d Cir. 2000)	19

In re Gen. Media, Inc., 335 B.R 66	15
In re Guild and Gallery Plus, Inc., 72 F.3d 1171 (3d Cir. 1996)	15
In re Guimond Farms, Inc., 10 B.R. 177 (Bankr. D. Mass. 1981)	13
In re Innovative Communication Co., LLC, Nos. 06-30008, 06-30009, 2008 WL 4755763 (D. VI Oct. 27, 2008)	18
In re Marcus Hook Dev. Park, Inc., 943 F.2d 261 (3d Cir. 1991)	14
In re McConaghy, 15 B.R. 480 (Bankr. E.D. Va. 1981)	13, 19
In re Perkins, 902 F.2d 1254 (7th Cir. 1990)	18
In re Porter v. NationsCredit Consumer Discount Co., 295 B.R. 529 (Bankr, E.D.P.A. 2003)	12, 14, 15
Mediators, Inc. v. Manney (In re The Mediators, Inc.), 105 F.3d 822 (2d Cir. 1997)	19
Pacor, Inc. v. Higgins, 743 F.2d 984 (3d Cir. 1984)	14, 15
Presidential Gardens Assocs. v. U.S. ex rel. Sec. of Housing and Urban Dev., 175 F.3d 132 (2d Cir. 1999)	16
Quattrone Accountants, Inc. v. IRS, 895 F.2d 921 (3d Cir. 1990)	14
Republic Underwriters Ins. Co. v. DBSI Republic, LLC (In re DBSI), 409 B.R. 720 (Bankr. D. Del. 2009)	25
Schumacher v. White, 429 B.R. 400 (E.D.N.Y. 2010)	13
Stacy Fuel & Sales, Inc. v. Ira Phillips, Inc. (In re Stacy), 167 B.R. 243 (N.D. Ala. 1994)	18
Twin Mfg. Co. v. Blum Shapiro & Co., P.C., No. 380220, 1992 Conn. Super LEXIS 409 (Conn. Super. Ct. 1992)	21

# STATUTES AND RULES

28 U.S.C. § 1334	12, 14, 17
Fed. R. Bankr. P. 7001	18
Fed. R. Bankr. P. 7003	18

ASCHETTINO STRUHS LLP

Stephen A. Aschettino (SA4072)(admission pending)

Naomi D. Johnson (NJ1566)(admission pending)

1500 Broadway, 21st Floor

New York, New York 10036

Tel: (212) 354-7600 Fax: (866) 260-5527

ELLIOTT GREENLEAF

Eric M. Sutty

1105 Market Street, Suite 1700

Wilmington, Delaware 19801

Tel: (302) 384-9400 Fax: (302) 384-9399

Attorneys for Marcelo Paladini

# UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT DISTRICT OF DELAWARE

In re

CD LIQUIDATION CO., LLC, f/k/a CYNERGY DATA, LLC, et al.,

Debtors.

Chapter 11

Case No. 09-13038 (KG)

Hearing Date: October 30, 2012

Hearing Time: 10:00 A.M.

# OBJECTION BY MARCELO PALADINI TO MOTION BY MONERIS SOLUTIONS AND BMO HARRIS BANK NA TO ENFORCE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT AND FOR RELATED RELIEF

Marcelo Paladini ("Paladini"), by and through his undersigned counsel, Aschettino Struhs LLP, respectfully submits this memorandum of law in opposition to Moneris Solutions, Inc. and BMO Harris Bank NA's (collectively, the "Harris Defendants") motion (the "Motion") for an order: (1) enforcing (A) the order approving that certain settlement (the "Settlement") regarding reconciliation of amounts related to the rolling reserve fund (the "Settlement Order"), (B) the order confirming (the "Confirmation Order," and together with the Settlement Order, the "Orders") the Joint Plan of Liquidation (the "Plan") of CD Liquidation Co., LLC, CD

Liquidation Co. Plus, LLC, and Cynergy Data Holdings, Inc. (collectively "Debtors") and (C) compliance with the Plan; and (2) enjoining Marcelo Paladini from prosecuting the action against the Harris Defendants that is currently pending in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York (the "District Court"), entitled *Marcelo Paladini v. BMO Harris Bank, N.A. and Moneris Solutions, Inc.*, bearing civil action number 12-cv-05178 (the "SDNY Action").

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Harris Defendants attempt to circumvent the appropriate jurisdiction of a federal district court under the guise of a motion to enforce the prior Settlement Order of this Court. This Court has no jurisdiction over the parties and claims presented in the SDNY Action. Indeed, that dispute is between non-debtor parties and involves claims that are direct and personal to Paladini. And the Settlement Order contains express carve-outs for the types of claims Paladini asserts, and the Plan preserves this carve-out. Accordingly, the Harris Defendants' Motion must be denied.

In July 2012, Paladini filed the SDNY Action against the Harris Defendants. The complaint ("Complaint") alleges various causes of action that resulted in substantial damages to Paladini, personally. Rather than respond to the Complaint in that proceeding, the Harris Defendants strategically proceeded in this Court on the basis of a misguided interpretation of this Court's prior history with Paladini. The Harris Defendants improperly attempt to invoke the jurisdiction of this Court by filing the Motion, purportedly seeking to enforce prior orders in a bankruptcy proceeding that was confirmed almost two years ago. The Harris Defendants argue that the claims Paladini asserted in his Complaint are enjoined by the Settlement and Confirmation Orders and, in any event, are derivative and therefore belong to the estate of the Debtors. The Harris Defendants' arguments could not be more misplaced.

First, this Court, respectfully, lacks jurisdiction over the Harris Defendants' motion. Counsel for the Harris Defendants suggest this Court has jurisdiction not only to stay the SDNY Action, but also to permanently enjoin it. Yet Paladini was not even a party to the underlying settlement agreement between the Debtors and the Harris Defendants. That agreement resolved certain claims between the Harris Defendants and the Debtors regarding the Debtors' "Rolling Reserves." The settlement agreement and resulting Settlement Order contains an injunction, the entirety of which the Harris Defendants failed to recite in their Motion, that makes clear that Paladini's claims were not enjoined and that he remained free to bring personal claims against the Harris Defendants. Indeed, Paladini's claims were specifically carved out from the injunction because Paladini anticipated asserting causes of action against the Harris Defendants.

Second, this Court lacks subject matter jurisdiction over the dispute. At the outset, this dispute concerns non-debtor third parties. Neither the bankruptcy estate nor any of the Debtors' creditors have an interest in the outcome. This Court has no authority to determine the potential rights and remedies of such non-debtor third parties. Moreover, this Court lacks jurisdiction because this proceeding is neither "core" nor "related to" the bankruptcy case.

Finally, the Harris Defendants argue that Paladini's claims belong to the bankruptcy estate, and, therefore, such claims were effectively enjoined. However, assuming, arguendo, that such analysis is properly within the Court's domain, an analysis of the claims and Paladini's particularized injuries makes clear that they are personal to Paladini and, therefore, not derivative. Indeed, the Liquidation Trustee has not brought any such claims against the Harris Defendants, nor the Trustee supported the Harris Defendants' Motion. Nevertheless, the Harris Defendants rely heavily on a prior action brought before this Court through a motion for injunction, entitled Paladini v. Martillo (the "Martillo Action"), in a misguided effort to

demonstrate that the claims belong to the Debtors when the damages that Paladini asserts in his Complaint can only be personal. The Martillo Action involved very different claims between the co-founders and shareholders of the Debtors, along with the Trustee's corresponding adversary proceeding to enjoin the Martillo Action. Moreover, the Martillo Action was dismissed with prejudice as part of an unrelated settlement with Paladini and the Trustee. Accordingly, the Harris Defendants' reliance upon the outcome of the Martillo action is misplaced.

Because this Court lacks subject matter jurisdiction and, in any event, the SDNY Action consists of claims that are personal to Paladini, this Court must disregard the Harris Defendants' improper attempt at forum shopping and deny the Harris Defendants' motion for lack of subject matter jurisdiction.

In the event the Court determines that it has subject matter jurisdiction, it should still dismiss or otherwise deny the Motion because Paladini's claims in the SDNY Action are not derivative. Paladini's claims are personal to him, were expressly carved out of the Settlement Order and preserved in the Confirmation Order, and are therefore not enjoined by this Court's prior Orders, as discussed more fully below. The District Court is the appropriate forum for the dispute between Paladini and the Harris Defendants, including a determination of whether Paladini's claims in the SDNY Action are determined to be derivative. This Court should respectfully defer to the District Court for resolution of the claims between the instant non-debtor parties.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Cynergy Data, LLC<sup>1</sup> ("Cynergy") was a provider of payment processing and related merchant services for credit card and other electronic transactions that served approximately

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> While in bankruptcy and after the completion of its Section 363 sale, Cynergy Data, LLC changed its name to CD Liquidation Co, LLC.

80,000 merchants. BMO Harris Bank, N.A. ("Harris"), as Cynergy's sponsor bank, was the gatekeeper for all funds movements associated with credit card and other electronic transactions for which Cynergy provided processing services. In addition to Harris's role as Cynergy's sponsor bank, Harris's affiliate and agent, Moneris Solutions, Inc. ("Moneris"), provided certain accounting services to Cynergy. Moneris was responsible for daily reconciliation of transfers in and out of Cynergy's operating account to ensure the account maintained a zero balance error. Cynergy paid Harris for these additional services.

In July 2009, Moneris claimed that over \$21 million of merchant funds should have been, but had not been, deposited and maintained in an account at Harris, per the direction of specific agreements in place between the parties. As a result of this alleged shortfall in what was referred to as "Rolling Reserves," Harris suspended all funding to Cynergy to initiate the immediate recovery of those funds. At the time, none of the disputed funds were due to be paid to the underlying merchants.

Harris prepared and presented to Cynergy and Paladini a forbearance agreement (the "Forbearance Agreement").<sup>2</sup> The Harris Defendants threatened to continue suspending funding if Cynergy and Paladini did not sign the Forbearance Agreement. Without access to its operating revenues, Cynergy would not be able to operate its business. More urgently, the Harris Defendants' actions prevented Cynergy from paying commissions (known as "residuals") to its downline agents and affiliates who relied upon such payments from Cynergy for their livelihood. Continued non-payment of these residuals would lead these downlines and agents to move Cynergy's merchants to another processing platform, thus eviscerating Cynergy's business. And Paladini would then be called on to pay under his personal guarantees and other contractual

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Harris required that Paladini personally sign the Forbearance Agreement since Paladini was a guarantor of certain agreements that existed with Cynergy's lenders.

covenants. Thus the Harris Defendants, through economic duress, forced Cynergy and Paladini to sign the Forbearance Agreement. The Forbearance Agreement purported to vitiate certain subordination agreements discussed below, the effect of which was to expose Paladini to additional personal liability. Ultimately it was both the existence and the terms of the Forbearance Agreement that bankrupted Cynergy, resulting in the termination of Paladini's employment and personal exposure under the various guarantees and credit faculties Paladini had executed.

On September 1, 2009, Cynergy filed for Chapter 11 protection. The Harris Defendants were creditors in the bankruptcy proceeding, as was. On or about October 28, 2009, The ComVest Group purchased Cynergy for roughly \$81 million dollars – more than \$40 million less than the amount owed to Cynergy's creditors. Paladini, through his guarantees, was responsible for the shortfall.

On or about June 2, 2010, the Harris Defendants and the Debtor entered the Settlement, which was detailed in a term sheet. The Settlement was approved by the Court through the Settlement Order entered on September 13, 2010 (a copy of which is attached as Exhibit A), discussed more fully below. Paladini, a non-party, was not a signatory to the Settlement agreement.<sup>3</sup>

The Settlement Order contained certain releases for the benefit of the estate. Specifically, the Settlement Order contained the following language:

Except as expressly permitted by the Settlement Term Sheet, all parties in interest in the Bankruptcy Cases hereby are forever barred, estopped and permanently enjoined from: (a) commencing or continuing in any manner any action or other proceeding,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Specifically, the parties to the Settlement were Harris Bank and Moneris Solutions, Dymas Funding Company, LLC, Ableco Finance LLC, A3 Funding LLC, Garrison Credit Investments I LLC, Comerica Bank, Wells Fargo Capital Finance, LLC, CD Liquidation Co., LLC, f/k/a Cynergy Data, LLC, Cynergy Data Holdings, Inc., and CD Liquidation Co. Plus, LLC, f/k/a Cynergy Prosperity Plus, LLC.

asserting, prosecuting or otherwise pursuing any claims, rights or causes of action, (b) enforcing, attaching, collecting or recovering in any manner any judgment, award, decree or order, (c) creating perfection or enforcing any lien or encumbrance or (d) asserting a setoff, right of subrogation or recoupment of any kind, against a Selling Party; (i) released under this Order, or the Settlement Term Sheet or (ii) related to reserves identified in the Bankruptcy Cases as part of the Settlement Escrowed Funds; provided, however, that the foregoing provisions shall exclude and not apply to (x) ..., (y)..., and (z) with respect to clause (ii) in this paragraph 11 related to the reserved identified in the Bankruptcy Cases should not be construed to preclude Mr. Paladini from asserting claims or defenses to claims asserted against him which claims or defenses are indirectly related to the reserves, but do not affect the entitlement to, calculation of, ownership, control, or distribution of the reserves, or to preclude any party from asserting claims or defenses against Mr. Paladini or against any other party in interest that is not a Selling Party.

(Settlement Order ¶ 12.) (emphasis added). As the language makes clear, the release specifically carved out claims that were personal to Paladini, going so far as to even include potential claims relating to the Rolling Reserves. Paladini specifically negotiated this language to preserve future claims against the Harris Defendants. The Settlement Order therefore expressly contemplated that Paladini could bring claims at a later date for injuries sustained by him personally.

On December 21, 2010, this Court confirmed the Debtor's Plan pursuant to the Confirmation Order. The Settlement was preserved in the Plan.

In July 2012, Paladini commenced the SDNY Action. In it, Paladini alleges six separate causes of action: (i) economic duress; (ii) breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing; (iii) breach of fiduciary duty; (iv) tortious interference with business relations; (v) general malpractice; and (vi) negligence. Paladini's damages arise as a result of his position as majority shareholder and guarantor of Cynergy, as well as his status as a signatory to the Forbearance Agreement.

The Complaint also details Paladini's particularized, personal injuries. Paladini outlines how his fourteen-year reputation as an award-winning entrepreneur and successful CEO of a leading payments processing company and person of the highest integrity was damaged beyond repair. (Compl. ¶167). Rumors in the industry created by Harris and others, insinuations that Paladini had some direct involvement in causing the alleged shortfall of \$21 million of merchant funds and the Debtors' former CFO purportedly fleeing the country all supported a false assumption in the industry that Paladini had siphoned funds from the Debtors. (Compl. ¶168-170). The Complaint further details how this harm to his reputation will forever bar him from working in the electronic payments industry. The only employment he was able to obtain was from ComVest, the ultimate purchaser of Cynergy's assets, which was a self-serving attempt to glean as much of Paladini's knowledge about the Debtors before subsequently discharging him. (Compl. ¶171-175).

Additionally, Paladini also details in the Complaint how he was personally harmed by being forced to sign the Forbearance Agreement, which subjected Paladini to personal liability (Compl. ¶177-183) and ultimately a barrage of lawsuits (Compl. 162-164).

Further, Paladini explains in the Complaint how he was personally injured by the Harris Defendants' fabricated breaches, laying the blame on Paladini when really the Harris Defendants were mishandling the accounts and attempting to hide their own breaches of various credit card agreements.

The Complaint further describes how the Harris Defendants negligently failed to discharge their duties and obligations to Paladini in monitoring the daily transactions of Cynergy, providing incorrect and negligent information and accounting functions to Paladini, that he relied to his detriment upon in obtaining new loans, securing personal guarantees, and executing various ancillary agreements as detailed more fully in the SDNY Action. (Compl. ¶191-200).

Finally, the Complaint details how the Harris Defendants interfered with Paladini's business relations with EVO, which was seeking to acquire the business, forcing the sale price of Cynergy drastically lower. (Compl. ¶204-211).

On August 31, 2012, rather than filing an answer or motion in the District Court in response to the Complaint, the Harris Defendants improperly filed a motion with this Court seeking to "enforce the Court's prior orders releasing and enjoining any claims of the Debtors ... against the defendants" and to enjoin the SDNY Action. (Motion, p. 1.) The Harris Defendants purport that this Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this dispute. They incorrectly argue that all of Paladini's claims are derivative, not direct, and therefore belong to the Debtors. Assuming the claims do belong to the Debtors, the Harris Defendants further purport, those claims have allegedly been released and enjoined through the Orders. The Harris Defendants' motion is improper, lacks merit and wastes the valuable resources of this Court as an attempt to adjudicate disputes between two non-debtor third parties post-confirmation.

# I. THIS COURT LACKS JURISDICTION OVER THIS PROCEEDING ON THREE SEPARATE GROUNDS

# A. Paladini's Claims Against the Harris Defendants Were Specifically Carved Out from the Settlement Order

This Court lacks jurisdiction over the proceeding initiated by the Harris Defendants because the claims that Paladini seeks to prosecute in the SDNY Action were specifically carved out from the injunction contained in the Settlement Order and preserved by the Plan. This Court cannot enforce a part of the Settlement Order and the Plan that does not exist. As such, there is simply no basis for this Court to enjoin the SDNY Action.

As explained in the Statement of Facts, the dispute that led to the underlying Settlement was a dispute between the Debtors, the Harris Defendants, and others. Paladini was not a party to that settlement. A review of the June 2, 2010 Settlement Term Sheet Summary of Proposed Terms and Conditions (Ex. A to Dkt. No. 863 (the "Term Sheet")) makes that clear. While Paladini was an officer, director and shareholder of the Debtors, he did not sign on to the Settlement Agreement in any of these capacities or individually.

On December 21, 2010, this Court confirmed the Plan pursuant to the Confirmation Order. As the Harris Defendants point out in their Motion, and as explained, *supra*, the Plan contains certain releases and injunctions for the benefit of the estate. *See* Plan, at Art. XII. Specifically, the Harris Defendants state that this Court "enjoined actions of claims against Moneris" and quotes select language from the Settlement Order. (Moneris Motion, p. 8). However, the Harris Defendants neglect to furnish the Court with the express language that specifically carves out claims (and defenses to claims) that belong to Paladini. Counsel for Paladini was careful to make clear in the Settlement Order that any claims Paladini may wish to prosecute at a later date were specifically carved out from the injunction, including claims relating to the reserves. The entirety of the injunction reads as follows:

Except as expressly permitted by the Settlement Term Sheet, all parties in interest in the Bankruptcy Cases hereby are forever barred, estopped and permanently enjoined from: (a) commencing or continuing in any manner any action or other proceeding, asserting, prosecuting or otherwise pursuing any claims, rights or causes of action, (b) enforcing, attaching, collecting or recovering in any manner any judgment, award, decree or order, (c) creating perfection or enforcing any lien or encumbrance or (d) asserting a setoff, right of subrogation or recoupment of any kind, against a Selling Party; (i) released under this Order, or the Settlement Term Sheet or (ii) related to reserves identified in the Bankruptcy Cases as part of the Settlement Escrowed Funds; provided, however, that the foregoing provisions shall exclude and not apply to (x) ..., (y) ..., and (z) with respect to clause (ii) in this paragraph 11

related to the reserved identified in the Bankruptcy Cases should not be construed to preclude Mr. Paladini from asserting claims or defenses to claims asserted against him which claims or defenses are indirectly related to the reserves, but do not affect the entitlement to, calculation of, ownership, control, or distribution of the reserves, or to preclude any party from asserting claims or defenses against Mr. Paladini or against any other party in interest that is not a Selling Party.

(Settlement Order ¶ 12.) (emphasis added). As the emphasized language plainly states, Paladini may bring personal claims against the Harris Defendants.

In addition, during the Confirmation Hearing on the Plan before Your Honor, counsel for the Debtors emphasized to the Court that Paladini's personal claims were carved out and not enjoined:

MR. DREBSKY: As to what is in the plan, and I can represent as to any claims that are personal to Mr. Paladini, this plan doesn't affect it. The releases to third parties do not affect any claims that are personal for Mr. Paladini.

Transcript of Confirmation Hearing at 24:17-20, *In re CD Liquidation Co. LLC* (December 21, 2010) (No. 09-13038) (emphasis added) (a copy of the relevant pages are attached as Exhibit B). The Court expressly adopted this representation by Debtors' counsel into the Court's Order Confirming the Debtors' Plan:

THE COURT: And my ruling finding that the plan should be confirmed incorporates those representations, Mr. Drebsky, namely, that the *injunction does not limit personal claims from being pursued*.

Id. at 64:3-6 (emphasis added). Accordingly, this Court cannot enforce a Settlement Order that bars the personal claims that Paladini has brought in the SDNY Action when the Settlement Order and Confirmation Order both expressly permit those claims. Therefore, this Court should deny the Harris Defendants' motion seeking to enjoin the SDNY Action.

## B. The Bankruptcy Court Lacks Subject Matter Jurisdiction Over This Dispute

The Motion must be denied because the Bankruptcy Court lacks subject matter jurisdiction to consider the Motion. A federal court "presumptively lacks jurisdiction" over a proceeding unless the plaintiff establishes that jurisdiction exists. *In re Porter v. NationsCredit Consumer Discount Co.*, 295 B.R. 529, 535 (Bankr. E.D.P.A. 2003). "This proposition is no less true for bankruptcy courts which, despite their expanded jurisdictional grant found in 28 U.S.C. § 1334, *remain courts of limited jurisdiction.*" *Id.* (emphasis added).

## 1. This Is A Dispute Between Non-Debtor Parties

At the outset, where, as here, the Court is dealing with a dispute between third parties in which the estate of the debtor has no interest, the bankruptcy court lacks jurisdiction over that dispute. See, e.g., In re McConaghy, 15 B.R. 480, 481 (Bankr. E.D. Va. 1981); see also Schumacher v. White, 429 B.R. 400, 406 (E.D.N.Y. 2010) (bankruptcy courts have no power to hear third-party disputes that are collateral to the bankruptcy). In McConaghy, a creditor filed a complaint to enforce a mechanic's lien. The defendants moved to dismiss, arguing that the court lacked subject matter jurisdiction over the complaint. The court determined that because the property on which the mechanic's lien rested had been foreclosed upon and purchased by a third party, the defendant debtor no longer had any interest in the property. Accordingly, the court concluded that it lacked jurisdiction over the dispute because it "lacks jurisdiction to decide disputes between third parties in which the estate of the Debtor has no interest." Id. at 481.

Other courts have relied upon *McConaghy* to render similar conclusions regarding subject matter jurisdiction. For example, in *Texas Air Corp. v. Air Line Pilots Ass'n, Int'l*, the court remanded a matter to the district court because the dispute at issue arose between two non-debtors. Even if the moving party were to be victorious on its claims, "the debtor's estate would not be effected because the award would be against [the defendant], a non-debtor, and not [] the debtor." No. H-84-530, 1985 WL 56708, at \*2 (S.D. Tex. Jan. 23, 1985). *See also In re* 

Guimond Farms, Inc., 10 B.R. 177, 179 (Bankr. D. Mass. 1981) ("Third parties cannot confer jurisdiction on the Court in disputes in which the estate is not involved.").

As is clear from the parties involved here, this is not a dispute in which the estate of the Debtors has any interest. Indeed, the three Debtors in the underlying bankruptcy proceeding are CD Liquidation Co., LLC, f/k/a Cynergy Data, LLC, Cynergy Data Holdings, Inc., and CD Liquidation Co. Plus, f/k/a Cynergy Prosperity Plus, LLC. None of these Debtors are named or in any way involved in the dispute now between the Harris Defendants and Paladini, nor is the Liquidation Trustee involved.

In addition, even though "there may be common issues of fact between a civil proceeding and a controversy involving the bankruptcy estate does not bring the matter within the scope of section 1471(b)," for "[j]udicial economy itself does not justify federal jurisdiction." *Pacor, Inc.* v. *Higgins*, 743 F.2d 984, 994 (3d Cir. 1984). Accordingly, the Court should dismiss The Harris Defendants' Motion for lack of subject matter jurisdiction because the estate of the debtor has no interest in the dispute.

### 2. This Is a Non-Core Proceeding Unrelated to the Debtors' Bankruptcy

Furthermore, the Third Circuit has held that the Bankruptcy Court's jurisdiction over a case involving non-debtors is to be determined solely by 28 U.S.C. § 1334(b). *See Quattrone Accountants, Inc. v. IRS*, 895 F.2d 921 (3d Cir. 1990). In order to determine whether a particular proceeding is within the confines of bankruptcy court jurisdiction, the proceeding must fall within one of three general categories. *In re Porter*, 295 B.R. at 535. "First, there are 'core' proceedings, which may be heard and resolved by the bankruptcy court via final judgment." *Id.* (citing 28 U.S.C. § 157(b)(1)). As established by 28 U.S.C. § 1334, core proceedings consist of two sub-categories: "those that 'arise under' and those that 'arise in' the bankruptcy case." *Id.* The Third Circuit has construed section 1334 to state "that a proceeding is core under section

157 if it invokes a substantive right provided by title 11 or if it is a proceeding that, by its nature, could arise only in the context of a bankruptcy case." *In re Marcus Hook Dev. Park, Inc.*, 943 F.2d 261, 267 (3d Cir. 1991) (internal quotations and citation omitted). Therefore, "[i]f the proceeding does not invoke a substantive right created by the federal bankruptcy law and is one that could exist outside of bankruptcy it is not a core proceeding." *In re Guild and Gallery Plus, Inc.*, 72 F.3d 1171, 1178 (3d Cir. 1996).

The second category of proceedings involves what are referred to as "non-core" or "related" proceedings. "Non-core proceedings include the broader universe of all proceedings that are not core proceedings but are nevertheless 'related to' a bankruptcy case." *In re Porter*, 295 B.R. 529, 536. The "test for determining whether a civil proceeding is related to bankruptcy is whether the outcome of that proceeding could conceivably have any effect on the estate being administered in bankruptcy." *Pacor*, 743 F.2d 984, 994. "An action is related to bankruptcy if the outcome could alter the debtor's rights, liabilities, options, or freedom of action (either positively or negatively) and which in any way impacts upon the handling and administration of the bankrupt estate." *Id*.

In addition, where, as here, the Bankruptcy Court has confirmed the Plan, "all courts that have addressed the question have ruled that the already-limited 'related to' jurisdiction shrinks considerably. See, e.g., In re Gen. Media, Inc., 335 B.R 66, 73 (declining jurisdiction over action brought by successor-in-interest to Chapter 11 debtor who had brought adversary proceeding to recover from debtor's principal for breach of fiduciary duty and conversion).

Then there exists the final category, which consists of the following:

Finally, the third category of proceedings are those which fall outside the definition of 'related to' because their outcome would have no effect upon the bankruptcy case. This is generally because their outcome will not affect the property to be administered in the

bankruptcy case, the total assets to be distributed, or the total claims to be paid. Over these 'unrelated' proceedings, a bankruptcy court has no subject matter jurisdiction.

In re Porter, 295 B.R. 529, 538.

Here the Harris Defendants' request for an injunction does not fall under the first category because the SDNY Action constitutes a lawsuit between two non-debtor parties in a non-bankruptcy forum, and therefore is not brought under title 11 and does not arise under or in a case under title 11. It is not a "core" proceeding because it does not involve a substantive right provided by Title 11, nor is it a proceeding that could arise only in the context of a bankruptcy case. Therefore, the action cannot be deemed a "core" proceeding and the Court should dismiss the Harris Defendants' Motion for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. The District Court is the appropriate forum.

Further, the SDNY Action is not a "non-core" proceeding because it is not "related to" a case under title 11 because the action will not alter, in any way, "the debtor's rights, liabilities, options, or freedom of action." Indeed, the SDNY Action does not implicate the three debtors to the underlying bankruptcy proceeding or the Liquidation Trustee; nor has Paladini asserted any claims against the debtors in the SDNY Action. Paladini has sued the Harris Defendants for injuries that Paladini suffered individually.

Moreover, the instant action is brought post-confirmation, where the Court's jurisdiction under well settled precedent is already limited. Even more so here, where the issues relate to a dispute as between two non-debtor third parties that was specifically contemplated and preserved for adjudication outside of the bankruptcy court, as discussed above. Paladini's claims in the Complaint amount to a two-party dispute arising out of the particularized injuries he suffered as a result of the Harris Defendants' tortious conduct and is entirely independent of the Plan or the rights of the Debtor. *Presidential Gardens Assocs. v. U.S. ex rel. Sec. of Housing and Urban* 

Dev., 175 F.3d 132, 142 (2d Cir. 1999) (because "this suit is, in essence, a dispute between [third parties], [w]e . . . find that, as a result, this suit does not fall within the scope of 28 U.S.C. § 1334. Therefore, Plaintiffs-Appellants' attempt to invoke bankruptcy jurisdiction fails.") (See Section III, supra).

The Harris Defendants fail to explain or even assert how the litigation of Paladini's claims could alter the Debtor's rights, liabilities, or actions. Paladini's Complaint consists of state law claims asserted solely against a non-debtor and seeks to recover losses incurred by Paladini, not the Debtors - - claims specifically contemplated and carved out from the Settlement Order and Confirmation Order. In short, there is no "close nexus" to the bankruptcy proceedings, as there must be for "related to" jurisdiction to exist. *See also Gibson v. Kassover* (*In re Kassover*), No. 98-43124, 2008 WL 4845757, at \* 3 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. Oct. 30, 2008) (even though the plan and confirmation order contained retention provisions, it "encompasses only claims that affect the Debtor's estate not third party claims against a nondebtor that have no effect on the estate").

Finally, neither of the Harris Defendants are debtors, and the SDNY Action does not affect the property of the Debtors. Instead, the SDNY Action seeks damages for harms particularized to Paladini. As a result, it is apparent that the SDNY Action involves claims that fall outside the definition of "related to" claims and over which this Court lacks jurisdiction. Accordingly, this Court should not enjoin the SDNY Action and should instead dismiss the Harris Defendants' Motion.

### C. The Harris Defendants' Motion Violates Bankruptcy Rule 7001

The Harris Defendants' Motion requires an adversary proceeding in accordance with Bankruptcy Rule 7001. The Harris Defendants should have thus sought the relief requested in their Motion by way of an adversary proceeding commenced by filing and service of a summons

and complaint. Because the Harris Defendants failed to proceed as required by law and due process, their Motion must be dismissed.

Bankruptcy Rule 7001 provides that a proceeding to obtain an injunction is required to be commenced by an adversary proceeding. Fed. R. Bankr. P. 7001(7). Pursuant to Bankruptcy Rule 7003, an adversary proceeding is commenced by filing a complaint. Fed. R. Bankr. P. 7003. "Courts have generally required strict compliance with the Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure." Stacy Fuel & Sales, Inc. v. Ira Phillips, Inc. (In re Stacy), 167 B.R. 243, 248 (N.D. Ala. 1994). Accordingly, the Harris Defendants' Motion should be dismissed for failing to request injunctive relief with a summons and complaint. See, e.g., In re Innovative Communication Co., LLC, Nos. 06-30008, 06-30009, 2008 WL 4755763, at \*5 (D. VI Oct. 27, 2008) ("By requesting injunctive relief by motion before this Court rather than by commencing an adversary proceeding..., [debtor-appellant] ha[d] failed to comply with the requirements of Rule 7001."); see also In re Perkins, 902 F.2d 1254, 1258 (7th Cir. 1990) (holding that a Rule 7001 matter "commenced by motion rather than by complaint will be dismissed"); In re Stacy, 167 B.R. at 249 (affirming the bankruptcy court's decision to strike a motion for injunctive relief because "[u]nder the Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure, the relief sought by [the mortgagee] could not have been obtained by motion but rather necessitated the institution of an adversary proceeding").

Furthermore, even if the Harris Defendants had commenced an adversary proceeding, that proceeding would have been subject to immediate dismissal because, as previously articulated, bankruptcy courts lack jurisdiction to hear disputes between non-debtor third parties not in bankruptcy that do not affect the debtor or the estate. *See, e.g., In re McConaghy*, 15 B.R.

480, 481 (Bankr. E.D. Va. 1981); cf. In re Continental Airlines, 203 F.3d 203, 214 fn.12 (3d Cir. 2000); Celotex Corp. v. Edwards, 514 U.S. 300, 308 fn.5 (1995).

#### II. The SDNY Action Consists of Direct, Not Derivative, Claims

#### A. The Claims Against The Harris Defendants Are Personal

"In a bankruptcy proceeding, state law determines whether a right to sue belongs to the debtor or to the individual creditor." *Mediators, Inc. v. Manney (In re The Mediators, Inc.)*, 105 F.3d 822, 825 (2d Cir. 1997). "If the cause of action belongs to the estate, the trustee has exclusive standing to assert it; conversely, if the cause of action belongs solely to the . . . creditors, the trustee has no standing to assert it." *Goldin v. Primavera FamilienStiftung, Tag Assoc. (In re Granite Partners, L.P.)*, 194 B.R. 318, 324-25 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 1996). Therefore, a bankruptcy trustee cannot bring a cause of action against a third party when that cause of action belongs to the creditors of the debtor. *E.F. Hutton & Co. v. Hadley*, 901 F.2d 979, 985-86 (11th Cir. 1990). "Congress has not yet indicated even a scintilla of an intention" to confer such standing on trustees, "and [ ] such a policy decision must be left to Congress and not to the judiciary." *Id.* (quoting *Caplin v. Marine Midland Grace Trust Co.*, 406 U.S. 416, 434 (1972)).

Assuming the instant third party (non-debtor) dispute is properly before this Court in the first instance, which Paladini disputes<sup>5</sup>, for purposes of this Motion, the allegations stated in the Complaint must be accepted as true. *Bohlen v. United States*, 623 F. Supp. 595 (C.D. Ill. 1985)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The court in *E.F. Hutton* noted that Congress "considered and rejected" an opportunity to overrule the decision in *Caplin* (prohibiting trustees from bringing personal third party causes of action) when it drafted the revised bankruptcy code in 1978.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The determination as to whether a claim is personal or derivative is not properly made in the bankruptcy court, especially when there is a suit pending in an appropriate forum that is better equipped to address the direct versus derivative issue. See A.T. Massey Coal Co. v. Harman Dev. Corp. (In re Sovereign Coal Sales), Case No. 7-98-01992, 2000 Bankr. Lexis 2092, at \*26 (Bankr. W.D. Va. Nov. 28, 2000) (where the court determined that deciding whether claims of a third party and debtor were direct or derivative was an issue properly decided by state or federal district court - - not bankruptcy court. Only if the claims are derivative does the bankruptcy court have the right to step in. To hold otherwise would "place the cart before the horse.").

(allegations in complaint taken as true for purposes of determining motion to enforce settlement). As provided above, in the SDNY Action, Paladini alleges six separate causes of action: (i) economic duress; (ii) breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing; (iii) breach of fiduciary duty; (iv) tortious interference with business relations; (v) general malpractice; and (vi) negligence.

Here the Harris Defendants' erroneously assert, without regard for due process and a fact determination, that the claims at issue are not personal or, alternatively, that if a cause of action could be brought by the corporation, an individual third party cannot pursue them (*see* the Harris Defendants Brief, p. 14). However, this is misdirected and ignores the claims and individualized injuries suffered by Paladini.

Indeed, when a creditor has a claim for injuries particularized to him (even if the debtor was also injured), that cause of action belongs to the injured creditor. For example, in *Hirsch v. Arthur Anderson & Co.*, 72 F.3d 1085 (2d Cir. 1995), the trustee tried to usurp the individual creditors by bringing a suit for malpractice and negligence, among other claims, against the accountant for the debtor. The Court held "claims predicated upon the distribution of misleading PPMs to investors... are the property of those investors, and may be asserted only by them and to the exclusion of [the trustee]." *Id.* at 1094. The Court further held that, with regard to professional malpractice, "when a bankrupt corporation has joined with a third party in defrauding its creditors, the trustee cannot recover against the third party for the damage to the creditors." *Id.* (quoting *Shearson Lehman Hutton, Inc. v. Wagoner*, 944 F.2d 114, 120 (2d Cir. 1991). Since the damage suffered by the defendant accountant's deficient due diligence investigation was "passed on to the investors", the investors, and not the trustee, were the only parties with the right to recover on the malpractice claim. *Id.* 

Moreover, similarly, in E.F. Hutton, the court determined that the bankruptcy trustee did not have standing to bring a cause of action for negligence. The bankruptcy trustee brought a lawsuit against the margin account holder of the debtor for negligence for allowing the debtor to open and maintain a margin account when the debtor was engaging in a Ponzi scheme. E.F. Hutton, 901 F.2d 979. The District Court denied defendant's motion to dismiss and motion for summary judgment, determining that the bankruptcy trustee did have standing to bring a cause of action for negligence against a third party who injured the debtor and the debtor's creditors. Nevertheless, the Court certified this issue for direct appeal. The 11th Circuit disagreed, determining that it would have ended the case by granting the defendant's motion to dismiss because the cause of action was personal to the creditors of the estate, not the trustee. Specifically, the debtor's creditors, who were injured customers of the debtor that had purchased securities through the debtor which were subsequently sold by the defendant, were the proper parties to bring a cause of action against the defendant for negligence. The Court distinguished between general causes of action on behalf of all of the debtor's creditors, which the trustee would be entitled to bring, and a personal cause of action on behalf of only some of the debtor's creditors, which is required to be brought by the creditors. It was the creditors' particularized injury that centered standing on the creditors and not the trustee. E.F. Hutton, 901 F.2d at 987. See also Twin Mfg. Co. v. Blum Shapiro & Co., P.C., No. 380220, 1992 Conn. Super LEXIS 409 (Conn. Super. Ct. 1992) (where third party purchaser of company brought negligence cause of action against company's accountant arising out of negligently preparing financial statements that purchaser relied on to buy company. Court held that defendant was aware that the purchaser would rely on its work product and it was that work product that induced purchaser to buy company, so cause of action for negligence belonged to third party purchaser); Bankers Trust Co.

v. Rhoades, 859 F.2d 1096, 1101 (2d Cir. 1988) (where officers of the debtor's corporation engaged in fraud, bribery, and perjury and the court held that the damage was caused to the creditor, not the estate); Hunter v. Citibank, Case No. 09-02079, Dkt. No. 354, p. 8 (N.D. Cal. July 20, 2010) (holding investors had direct claims for breach of fiduciary duties as trust beneficiaries); Cumberland Oil Corp. v. Thropp, 791 F.2d 1037, 1042 (2d Cir. 1986) (right to recover for fraudulent inducement of contract belongs to creditor, not the bankruptcy estate).

Here Paladini is bringing claims for particularized injuries he -- not the Debtors -suffered.<sup>6</sup> While the causes of action vary, the instant dispute focuses on personal harm inflicted upon Paladini by the Harris Defendants in, amongst other things: (i) the Harris Defendants coercing Paladini into executing the Forbearance Agreement as detailed more fully in the SDNY Action and above, which had the effect of nullifying certain subordination agreements executed by Defendants, subjecting Paladini to additional personal liability (Compl. ¶177-183); (ii) the Harris Defendants' course of conduct in spreading false rumors and concocting breaches that did not exist, in attempting to make Paladini the scapegoat for the Harris Defendants' own misdeeds and mishandling of accounts, all as a means to hide the Harris Defendants' own breaches of various agreements, including Visa and MasterCard agreements that could subject the Harris Defendants to sanctions within the industry (Compl. ¶ 102-109); (iii) the Harris Defendants' negligently failing to discharge their duties and obligations to Paladini in monitoring the daily transactions of Cynergy, providing incorrect and negligent information and accounting functions to Paladini, that he relied upon in obtaining new loans, securing personal guarantees, and executing various ancillary agreements as detailed more fully in the SDNY Action and above, all of which Paladini relied upon to his determinant, in breach of Defendants' position of trust and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> This court is required to take all "factual allegations as true and draw all reasonable inferences in the plaintiff's favor." *Goldstein v. Pataki*, 516 F.3d 50, 56 (2d Cir. 2008). *Bohlen v. United States*, 623 F. Supp. 595 (C.D. Ill. 1985) (allegations in complaint taken as true for purposes of determining motion to enforce settlement).

confidence (Compl. ¶192-200); and (iv) the Harris Defendants interfering with Paladini's business relations with EVO, amongst other things, which was seeking to acquire the business (Compl. ¶205-211).

Like in *E.F. Hutton* and *Hirsch*, these causes of action are direct because Paladini is alleging particularized claims and injuries to him for tort, negligence, malpractice, and interference with business relations, amongst other things. As alleged in the Complaint, as a result of the Harris Defendants' course of conduct, Paladini sustained significant and irreparable personal injury. Among other things, the Harris Defendants performed certain accounting services. As such, they owed a duty to Cynergy and its officers and directors — including Paladini — to exercise reasonable care and diligence in performing those duties. Paladini reasonably relied upon the Harris Defendants' negligent accounting services to his detriment. Moreover, Paladini was personally harmed as a result of the damage to his reputation and business relationship with EVO, loss of employment, the evisceration of his equity, and personal exposure to additional debt that he was otherwise not responsible for, absent the Harris Defendants' breach of the subordination agreement and Forbearance Agreement.

In addition, by virtue of the Harris Defendants' actions, Paladini was subjected to claims by various creditors for the shortfall attributed with the fire sale for the business and by virtue of certain personal guaranties either entered or extended by virtue of acts and omissions of the Harris Defendants. Paladini's injuries also include damages in connection with several lawsuits that have been brought against him, personally, as a result of the Harris Defendants' conduct. The first two state court lawsuits, as detailed in the Complaint, seek to hold Paladini liable for loans made to Cynergy (Compl. ¶ 162). The bankruptcy trustee for Cynergy also filed a lawsuit against Paladini, in his personal capacity. And one of Cynergy's lenders filed a lawsuit against

Paladini (Compl. ¶163).<sup>7</sup> Paladini has incurred substantial legal fees and other financial harm as a result of the lawsuits described above. (Compl. ¶164).

Worst of all, Paladini's fourteen-year reputation as an award-winning entrepreneur, successful CEO of a leading payments processing company and person of the highest integrity was damaged beyond repair. (Compl. ¶167). The combination of rumors initiated from conversations between the leaders of EVO and Moneris, coupled with the claimed and published shortfall of funds in the amount of \$21 million dollars caused irreversible damage to the perception of Paladini in the payments industry. (Compl. ¶168). Further, in the aftermath of the Forbearance Agreement, the former CFO, Gustavo Ceballos, left the United States, fueling rumors that Cynergy's leaders had somehow siphoned funds for their personal use. (Compl. ¶169). All of these details served to support an assumption in the public that Paladini, as the former CEO of Cynergy, was responsible for mishandling \$21 million of company funds. (Compl. ¶170).

Having suffered such irreparable damage to his reputation, Paladini will undoubtedly never obtain a position with the electronic payments industry again. (Compl. ¶ 171). Immediately following the sale, the only job offered to Paladini was by ComVest, the ultimate purchaser of Cynergy's assets. (Compl. ¶172). ComVest's engagement of Paladini was strategic. ComVest sought to obtain Paladini's knowledge and expertise in order to guaranty the continuance of Cynergy and thus to protect ComVest's newest asset. (Compl. ¶ 173). Subsequently, in February 2012, having apparently obtained all of the knowledge ComVest felt it needed to run Cynergy, Paladini was unceremoniously discharged. (Comp. ¶174). Now unemployed, Paladini has no alternative but to abandon the industry in which he spent most of his career and pursue opportunities in other industries. (Compl. ¶175).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The Trustee and Lender lawsuits were settled and have been dismissed.

The personal and particularized injuries outlined above and in the Complaint were suffered only by Paladini as a result of the Harris Defendants' conduct and could not have been suffered by the Debtors. As such, the Harris Defendants' request for an injunction must fail.

Because the SDNY Action includes only direct claims of Paladini and not derivative claims, the Harris Defendants cannot succeed on the merits of their claims. *See Republic Underwriters Ins. Co. v. DBSI Republic, LLC (In re DBSI)*, 409 B.R. 720, 731 (Bankr. D. Del. 2009) (where court held that plaintiff's faulty legal premise that rejection of a lease amounts to a termination was wrong and, therefore, the plaintiff could not be successful on the merits and the injunction had to be denied). The legal basis for the Harris Defendants' request for an injunction is flawed because the causes of action Paladini has brought against the Harris Defendants are direct in nature. Accordingly, the motion must be dismissed.

# III. The Allegations in the Complaint Are In No Way Similar to Those Brought in the Martillo Action.

The Harris Defendants wrongfully allege that the claims in the Complaint are identical to the claims Paladini brought against Martillo in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York (the "Martillo Action") and, therefore, because this Court granted a motion for an injunction with regard to the action brought against Martillo, this Court should also enjoin the instant action (The Harris Defendants Motion p. 15). The Harris Defendants' argument is fundamentally flawed because the Martillo Action and the SDNY Action are fundamentally different.

At the outset, the Court will recall that it was the Trustee of the Debtors that sought the injunction in the Martillo Action. The Trustee brought the proceeding by properly commencing an adversary proceeding against Paladini. In essence, the Trustee claimed that Paladini was

seeking to usurp claims for himself that belonged to the Trustee. Paladini had commenced an action seeking recovery of improper distributions to Martillo while the bankruptcy proceedings were ongoing and before the Trustee had filed its own action seeking similar relief from Martillo. The circumstances in the SDNY Action are very different.

Paladini's claims in the Complaint against the Harris Defendants are explicitly protected in the Settlement Order, cited above, which expressly carves out Paladini's causes of action against the Harris Defendants. The language was further ratified in the Plan as discussed above. The Complaint against the Harris Defendants is, therefore, a dispute between two non-debtor parties that is not subject to this Court's jurisdiction.

The Harris Defendants also mischaracterize the SDNY Action, by focusing their arguments on their characterizations of the operative particularized injuries and not on the claims themselves. Paladini's injuries suffered and alleged in the Martillo Action mainly arose out of the improper distribution Martillo received, not the particularized injuries Paladini suffered at the hands of the Harris Defendants' improper conduct further described above. Paladini asserted four causes of action in that case (contribution, improper distribution, unjust enrichment or, in the alternative, constructive trust) that are entirely different from the six causes of action brought in the instant Complaint.

In addition, the Martillo Action was an interlocutory ruling in an adversary proceeding that was ultimately dismissed with prejudicial as part of the Trustee's settlement with Paladini. Moreover, the Martillo matter not only implicated divergent claims and a dispute between the Trustee, not non-debtor third parties as discussed above, the decision as this Court made clear at the original hearing on the Trustee's motion (even assuming the underlying matter was not

dismissed with prejudice), related only to the specific claims/causes of action brought against

Martillo, and did not bar Paladini from bringing personal claims.

CONCLUSION

As detailed above, because this Court lacks subject matter jurisdiction and, in any event,

the SDNY Action consists of claims that are personal to Paladini, this Court must disregard the

Harris Defendants' improper attempt at forum shopping and deny the Harris Defendants' motion

for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. In the event the Court determines that it has subject matter

jurisdiction, it should still dismiss or otherwise deny the Motion because Paladini's claims in the

SDNY Action are not derivative. Paladini's claims are personal to him, were expressly carved

out of the Settlement Order (and by implication, the Confirmation Order), and are therefore not

enjoined by this Court's prior Orders. The District Court is the appropriate forum for the dispute

between Paladini and the Harris Defendants, non-debtor third parties. Accordingly, this Court

should respectfully defer to the District Court for resolution of the claims between the instant

non-debtor parties and deny the Motion.

Dated: October 10, 2012

Wilmington, Delaware

ELLIQTE GREENLEAF

ELLIOTT GREENLEAF

Eric M. Sutty

1105 Market Street, Suite 1700

Wilmington, Delaware 19801

Tel: (302) 384-9400

Fax: (302) 384-9399

-and-

26

ASCHETTINO STRUHS LLP Stephen A. Aschettino (SA4072)(admission pending) Naomi D. Johnson (NJ1566)(admission pending) 1500 Broadway, 21st Floor New York, New York 10036

Tel: (212) 354-7600 Fax: (866) 260-5527

Attorneys for Marcelo Paladini

# **EXHIBIT** A

# IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF DELAWARE

In re:

Chapter 11

CD LIQUIDATION CO., LLC, f/ka CYNERGY DATA, LLC, et al., 1

Case No. 09-13038 (KG)

Debtors.

Jointly Administered

Related Docket Nos.: 13, 204, 207, 238, 490, 498,

633, 584, 773 and 863

ORDER APPROVING, PURSUANT TO SECTION 105(A) OF THE BANKRUPTCY CODE AND FEDERAL RULE OF BANKRUPTCY PROCEDURE 9019, THE SETTLEMENT BETWEEN AND AMONG THE DEBTORS, HARRIS N.A., MONERIS SOLUTIONS, INC., TERM B PARTIES AND SECOND LIEN PARTIES, TERM A PARTIES, CYNERGY HOLDINGS, LLC AND CYNERGY DATA, LLC REGARDING RECONCILIATION OF AMOUNTS RELATED TO THE ROLLING RESERVE FUNDS AND FOR CERTAIN RELATED RELIEF

UPON CONSIDERATION OF the Motion for an Order Approving, Pursuant to Section 105(a) of the Bankruptcy Code and Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure 9019, the Settlement Between and Among the Debtors, Harris, N.A., Moneris Solutions, Inc., Term B Parties and Second Lien Parties, Term A Parties, Cynergy Holdings, LLC and Cynergy Data, LLC Regarding Reconciliation of Amounts Related to the Rolling Reserve Funds and For Certain Related Relief (the "Motion")<sup>2</sup> filed in these cases; due and sufficient notice of the Motion having been given; and the Court having determined that good cause exists to grant the Motion;

The Debtors are the following entities (with the last four digits of their federal tax identification numbers in parentheses): CD Liquidation Co., LLC f/k/a Cynergy Data, LLC (8677); Cynergy Data Holdings, Inc. (8208); CD Liquidation Co. Plus, LLC f/k/a Cynergy Prosperity Plus, LLC (4265). The mailing address for the Debtors is 30-30 47th Avenue, 9th Floor, Long Island City, New York 11101.

<sup>2</sup> Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning ascribed to such terms in the Motion or the Settlement Term Sheet attached to the Motion as **Exhibit A**. To the extent any inconsistencies exist between this Order and the Settlement Term Sheet, the terms of this Order shall control.

- A. The Court has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 157 and 1334. These are core proceedings pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 157(b)(2). Venue is proper before this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1408 and 1409.
- B. The Court finds that the Settlement Term Sheet was negotiated at arm's length and entered into in good faith by the parties. The Settlement Term Sheet is fair, reasonable and in the best interests of the Debtors, their creditors and their estates.

#### IT IS HEREBY ORDERED as follows:

- 1. The Motion is GRANTED as set forth in this Order. Any objection not made to the Motion is waived. Any objection made to the Motion is overruled with prejudice.
- 2. The settlement agreements, terms and conditions as embodied in the Settlement Term Sheet attached to the Motion as **Exhibit A** as modified, supplemented and amended by this Order (collectively defined herein as the "Settlement Term Sheet") is APPROVED.
- 3. The Debtors, Purchaser, Harris, N.A., Moneris Solutions, Inc. (Harris N.A. and Moneris Solutions, Inc. and their successors and assigns are collectively referred to as "Moneris" herein), the Term A Parties and the Term B Parties and each of their successors and assigns (each a "Settling Party" and collectively, the "Settling Parties"), are authorized and empowered to execute, deliver and consummate all aspects of the Settlement Term Sheet, an escrow agreement governing the Settlement Escrow Account as well as all other documents intended to be executed and delivered in connection therewith and take any additional actions necessary to effectuate the Settlement Term Sheet, without the need to obtain further Court approval for such actions. Without limitation, the releases by the Debtors and the other parties to

the Settlement Term Sheet of other parties to the Settlement Term Sheets and the Debtors as modified below are authorized and approved by the Court.

- 4. All of the terms set forth in the Settlement Term Sheet, including the representations, warranties, agreements, releases, terms and conditions of the Settlement Term Sheet are hereby incorporated into this Order, as if fully set forth herein, and deemed binding on the Settling Parties.
- 5. The Debtors are directed to transfer funds currently in the existing Cure Escrow in the amount of \$17,442,908.80 (the "Settlement Escrowed Funds") less amounts released from the Escrowed Funds prior to the date hereof pursuant to the Stipulation.
- 6. Funds sufficient to satisfy Pivotal's Cure Claims shall remain in the Debtors' Escrow Cure Reserve and shall, pursuant to further Court order, be distributed from such Reserves to the Debtors to pay Pivotal in accordance with the ISO Agreement and the applicable Merchant Processing Agreement (See **Exhibit E**) and in such amount as set forth in the ISO Agreement and applicable Merchant Processing Agreement, as is agreed to between the Debtors and Pivotal or fixed by order of this Court, both upon notice to the merchants and the FTC with respect to the PDM Account. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing herein shall prejudice the rights of any of the Settling Parties or the merchants identified on **Exhibit E** to oppose any such resolution. Any funds not turned over to Pivotal will be promptly remitted to the Settlement Escrow Account without further order of the Court and with notice to the merchants and the FTC with respect to the PDM Account and included as Settlement Escrowed Funds for the purposes of this order.
  - 7. Attached hereto is a revised **Exhibit D** (Allocation of Escrow Proceeds).

- 8. Under the Settlement Term Sheet, without limitation, the Court approves indemnification by Debtors and their estates created in the Bankruptcy Cases pursuant to section 541 of the Bankruptcy Code, on a limited recourse basis (recourse limited to and capped at the principal amount of the Settlement Escrowed Funds) ("Indemnifying Party") indemnifying and holding harmless each of Moneris Solutions, Inc. and Harris N.A. and each of their respective parents, subsidiaries, affiliates and their respective shareholders, partners (both general and limited), members, officers, directors, employees and agents and each other person, if any, controlling each of them or any of their affiliates (each being an "Indemnified Party" and collectively, the "Indemnified Parties") from and against a Merchant Loss as provided under the Indemnification Coverage section of the Settlement Term Sheet.
- 9. The obligations to indemnify Moneris, including the Indemnification Payments, shall be secured by, and Moneris is hereby granted (without the necessity of the execution by Debtors, Term A Parties or Term B Parties or the filing or recordation, of mortgages, security agreements, account control agreements, financing statements or otherwise), perfected first priority security interests and liens in to and under the Settlement Escrow Account and the Settlement Escrowed Funds, wherever located, and whether now existing or hereafter arising or acquired from time to time, and all Proceeds (as defined in the Uniform Commercial Code of New York, as amended) of the foregoing provided, that, the security interest shall not attach to payments made to the Term A Parties or Term B Parties pursuant to the terms of the Settlement Term Sheet.
- 10. This Order constitutes a final Disbursement Order, as that term is used in the Escrow Agreement dated October 26, 2009 between Debtor Cynergy Data, LLC (now known

as CD Liquidating Co., LLC) and Wilmington Trust Company as Escrow Agent (together with its successors and assign, in such capacity, the "Escrow Agent").

11. Except as expressly permitted by the Settlement Term Sheet, all parties in interest in the Bankruptcy Cases hereby are forever barred, estopped and permanently enjoined from: (a) commencing or continuing in any manner any action or other proceeding, asserting, prosecuting or otherwise pursuing any claims, rights or causes of action, (b) enforcing, attaching collecting or recovering in any manner any judgment, award, decree of order, (c) creating perfection or enforcing any lien or encumbrance or (d) asserting a setoff, right of subrogation or recoupment of any kind, against a Settling Party; (i) released under this Order, or the Settlement Term Sheet or (ii) related to reserves identified in the Bankruptcy Cases as part of the Settlement Escrowed Funds; provided, however, that the foregoing provisions shall exclude and not apply to (x) payments provided for under the Settlement Term Sheet or requests made by a merchant for return of a merchant reserve pursuant to and in accordance with the terms of the applicable merchant processing agreement by and among the merchant, the Debtors and Moneris and the Bankruptcy Court order approving the Settlement Term Sheet which portion of a reserve was not previously paid (and not otherwise disgorged) to Moneris and/or Purchaser as an Indemnification Payment, (y) except as specifically released in the Settlement Term Sheet by the Purchaser, any and all claims, rights and interests of Purchaser arising under the Sale Order and (z) with respect to clause (ii) in this paragraph X 'related to reserves identified in the Bankruptcy Cases' should not be construed to preclude Mr. Paladini from asserting claims or defenses to claims asserted against him which claims or defenses are indirectly related to the reserves, but do not affect the entitlement to, calculation of, ownership, control, or distribution of the reserves, or to preclude

any party from asserting claims or defenses against Mr. Paladini or against any other party in interest that is not a Settling Party.

- the Bankruptcy Cases pursuant to section 541 of the Bankruptcy Code, the Term A Parties, the Term B Parties, and Garrison Opportunities, do hereby and under the Settlement Term Sheet waive and release any and all claims (to be interpreted in the broadest manner possible), obligations, suits, judgments, damages, rights, causes of action, liabilities, defenses, counterclaims or offsets and/or allegations whatsoever, whether known or unknown, foreseen or unforeseen, existing or hereafter arising, in law, equity or otherwise, against Moneris related in any way to the Settlement Term Sheet, Settlement Escrowed Funds, BIN Sponsor Agreement or the Debtors, except with respect to: (i) claims as set forth in the Settlement Term Sheet, (ii) claims for breach under the Settlement Term Sheet and (iii) claims for disgorgement by Moneris under the Stipulation and the Settlement Term Sheet, provided, however, that claims on account of such potential disgorgement obligations shall be included in the claims released if:
  - (x) none of the Debtors, the Term A Parties or the Term B Parties, provide to Moneris, within thirty-five (35) Business Days after the date of this Order with respect to claims for disgorgement of funds released under the Stipulation; or
  - (y) Comerica Bank, as Agent for the Term A Lenders (or the Term B Parties Agent, if applicable after an Assumption Transaction), do not provide to Moneris, within thirty-five (35) Business Days after the date of a Payment Date with respect to claims for disgorgement of funds released pursuant to the Settlement Term Sheet on such Payment Date,

a notice of request for return and recovery of all or part of any such payments of Settlement Escrowed Funds received only because such payment was paid in error and was not otherwise due and owing to Moneris or a merchant (each a "Disgorgement Notice").

- 13. Any Disgorgement Notice shall set forth (a) the amount of the funds requested to be returned in the aggregate and per merchant; (b) the basis for the allegation that an error was made; and (c) documentation which supports the position of the party which served the Disgorgement Notice. For a period of 30 days from the date of the Disgorgement Notice (the "Negotiation Period"), the Parties shall confer in good faith in order to resolve the claims in the Disgorgement Notice, counterclaims and defenses thereto. Upon expiration of the Negotiation Period, if the claim is not resolved, the party which served the Disgorgement Notice may timely file a motion with a court having jurisdiction as set forth in the Settlement Term Sheet to resolve the dispute and the prevailing party shall be entitled to payment of reasonable legal fees and expenses incurred in connection with such action.
- 14. Purchaser does hereby and under the Settlement Term Sheet waive and release any and all claims (to be interpreted in the broadest manner possible), obligations, suits, judgments damages, rights, causes of action, liabilities, defenses, counterclaims or offsets and/or allegations whatsoever, whether known or unknown, foreseen or unforeseen, existing or hereafter arising, in law, equity or otherwise, against Moneris but solely to the extent relating to the Indemnification Payments received and used by Moneris to cover a Merchant Loss and not otherwise disgorged. For the avoidance of doubt, this Order does not provide for the release of claims as between the Debtors and Purchaser, and as between Purchaser and Moneris for gross negligence or fraud on the part of Moneris.

- 15. Moneris, does hereby and under the Settlement Term Sheet waive and release any and all claims (to be interpreted in the broadest manner possible), obligations, suits, judgments damages, rights, causes of action, liabilities, defenses, counterclaims or offsets and/or allegations whatsoever, whether known or unknown, foreseen or unforeseen, existing or hereafter arising, in law, equity or otherwise, against the Debtors and their estates created in the Bankruptcy Cases pursuant to section 541 of the Bankruptcy Code, the Term A Parties, the Term B Parties, and Garrison Opportunities related in any way to the Settlement Escrowed Funds, BIN Sponsor Agreement or the Debtors, except with respect to: (i) claims as set forth in the Settlement Term Sheet, or (ii) claims for breach under the Settlement Term Sheet. Proof of claim no. 341 filed in these cases by Moneris is deemed satisfied subject to the Indemnification and other rights and remedies granted under the Settlement Term Sheet and this Order. For the avoidance of doubt, this Order does not provide for the release of claims by Moneris against Purchaser for liabilities of the Debtors which were assumed by Purchaser, or adversely affect, in any way any rights, claims and interests of the Purchaser under the Sale Order, provided further that nothing in this sentence or in the other provisions of the Settlement Term Sheet shall provide the Purchaser with rights or remedies which are more expansive than those that are currently held by the Purchaser under the Sale Order except to the extent that such rights or remedies are expressly provided for in the other provisions of the Settlement Term Sheet.
- 16. The following shall constitute representations and warranties under the Settlement Term Sheet binding on the party providing any representation and warranty:
  - a. The Settling Parties each represent and warrant that: (a) each such entity has full power and authority to enter into and execute the Settlement Term Sheet and related documents and to carry out the obligations and

Term Sheet and the performance of the obligations and covenants created thereunder have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action on the part of each such party, and no shareholder or other approval is necessary in order to bind each such party thereto; and (c) the execution and delivery of the Settlement Term Sheet and the related documents and the performance of the obligations and covenants created thereby are in the best interest of each such party and will not result in any conflict with or breach or violation of, or default under, the certificate of incorporation or by-laws of such party.

- b. Garrison Investments represents that Garrison Opportunities was never and is not a Term B Lender or Second Lien Lender and has no claim against or interest in the Debtors.
- c. The Debtors represent and warrant to the other Settling Parties that, except as set forth on revised **Exhibit B** attached hereto and as set forth on **Exhibit C** annexed to the Motion and made a part hereof, which exhibits include a listing of all unfunded merchant reserves per merchant with a description of any outstanding issues or disputes associated therewith, to their knowledge and as of October 26, 2009, there are no monies owing by the Debtors related to or arising out of unfunded merchant reserves.
- 17. The occurrence of any of the following shall constitute an event of default by a Settling Party ("Event of Default") under the Settlement Term Sheet:

- default by such Settling Party in payment when due of any amount to be
   paid under the Settlement Term Sheet, or Order
- Breach by such Settling Party of any covenant, agreement, condition, term
   or obligation under the Settlement Term Sheet, or Order;
- c. any representation or warranty made by such Settling Party in the Settlement Term Sheet, or Order or in any other document delivered in connection with the Settlement Term Sheet is found to be false or incorrect in any way so as to make it materially misleading when made or deemed to have been made;
- d. Entry by a court or other governmental agency or body having jurisdiction in the matter or in the premises of an order for relief with respect to such Settling Party or approving as properly filed a petition seeking reorganization, arrangement, adjustment or composition of or in respect of such Settling Party under any applicable Federal or state bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or other similar law, or appointing a custodian, receiver, liquidator, assignee, trustee, sequestrator or other similar official of such Settling Party or of any substantial part of its property, or ordering the winding up or liquidation of its affairs, and such decree or order shall have remained in force for sixty (60) days without being dissolved or stayed; or
- c. The institution by such Settling Party of a bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding, or the consent by such Settling Party to the institution of bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings against it, or the filing by such

Settling Party of a petition or answer or consent seeking reorganization or relief under any applicable Federal or state bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or other similar law, or the consent by it to the filing of such petition or to the appointment of or taking possession by a custodian, receiver, liquidator, assignee, trustee, sequestrator or other similar official of such Settling Party or of any substantial part of its property, or the making by it of an assignment for the benefit of creditors, or the admission by it in writing of its inability to pay its debts generally as they become due and its willingness to be adjudicated a bankrupt or insolvent, or the taking of corporate action by such Settling Party in furtherance of any such action.

- York Uniform Commercial Code and other applicable laws. Each Settling Party acknowledges that upon an Event of Default each Settling Party shall have all legal and equitable rights and remedies available to it against the defaulting party, provided, however, that an aggrieved Settling Party may also include a nondefaulting party in an action against a defaulting party to the extent the nondefaulting party is a necessary party under applicable court rules.
- 19. Notice of this Motion having been given to each merchant with an unfunded Rolling Reserve as of October 26, 2009 to advise such merchant of the disposition of their applicable portion of the Cure Escrow as was designed to address issues regarding the Rolling Reserves and the amount so transferred on such merchant's behalf, upon the entry of this order each such merchant shall have no further claim against the Debtors or Moneris relating to unfunded reserves.

- 20. The Debtors are directed to and shall immediately pay Moneris, as part of its cure, its attorney's fees and legal costs incurred in the Bankruptcy Cases through the date of July 15, 2010 in the amount of \$501,599.76, which funds shall be paid from the remaining funds in the Cure Escrow and not the Settlement Escrowed Funds. With respect to any additional claim for legal fees asserted by Moneris as provided in the Settlement Term Sheet and as cure, Moneris shall file with this Court and serve upon the Debtors a statement of any unpaid fees and expenses owed in accordance with the BIN Sponsor Agreement (the "Fee and Expense Statement") within ten (10) business days of the entry hereof. Unless an objection is interposed within five (5) business days following the filing and service of the Fee and Expense Statement, the Debtors shall be authorized to pay the amount set forth in the Fee and Expense Statement to Moneris from the remaining funds in the Cure Escrow and not the Settlement Escrowed Funds.
- 21. To the extent any plan of liquidation or reorganization ("Plan") is filed in theses cases, the Settlement Term Sheet will be incorporated into such Plan, but the terms of the Settlement Term Sheet will not be modified by such Plan unless the Settling Parties agree by prior unanimous written consent to such modification.
- 22. This Order is binding upon the Debtors, all creditors of the Debtors, and any trustees that may be appointed in these chapter 11 cases or any trustees appointed in any subsequent proceedings under chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code relating to the Debtors, and all other parties-in-interest.
- 23. Once the Settlement Escrow Account is funded in full and the terms and conditions of the Settlement are consummated, the Objections will be overruled.

24. This Court shall retain jurisdiction to the full extent permitted by law to determine any disputes concerning or relating to the Settlement.

Dated: September 13, 2010 Wilmington, DE

THE HONORABLE KEVIN GROSS UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY JUDGE

# EXHIBIT B

## CD LIQUIDATION CO. LLC ET AL., CD LIQU. CO. v. MARCELO PALADINI

	THE MEDICAL PROPERTY OF THE PR
	Page 23
	that Mr. Martillo retains the right to assert a setoff defense
:	in any litigation brought against him by the estate.
3	Now, obviously, all of this was important to us
4	because if we are sued by the estate, in addition to defending
5	on the merits, Your Honor, among other things, we intend to
6	assert a setoff defense based on our indemnification rights.
7	And, of course, that's separate and apart and a different issue
8	from whether we assert an indemnification claim; that'll be
9	handled, if at all, through the claims process. But we wanted
10	to make sure that any setoff right to indemnification was
11	preserved. And we believe that with these modifications to the
12	plan, our rights to do so have been preserved and based on
13	that, we accordingly withdraw our objections to the plan.
14	THE COURT: All right.
15	MR. STEARN: Thank you, Your Honor.
16	THE COURT: Thank you, Mr. Stearn. I read your
17	objection, I certainly understood it. I hoped that there was a
18	resolution because I thought there was room for one here and,
19	obviously, you have negotiated in good faith with one another
20	and arrived at a I think a good result.
21	MR. STEARN: Thank you, Your Honor.
22	MR. DREBSKY: Thank you, Your Honor.
23	That leaves us with Mr. Paladini's objections, which
24	are the only ones left. As to the document destruction, again,
25	that has been taken care of by the removal of the plan. The

## CD LIQUIDATION CO. LLC ET AL., CD LIQU. CO. v. MARCELO PALADINI

Page 24

indemnification objection has been taken care of by the language we proposed in the confirmation order, which modifies the plan. There was also an objection to the way we characterized 502(d) in the plan and we have modified that, and one can take a look at paragraph 25 of the confirmation order, which modifies that basically to say that whatever rights we have under 502(d) remain, only to the extent that 502(d) permits us to do it. Nothing more, nothing less. And I've been informed by Mr. Paladini's counsel that the language that we proposed in paragraph 25 of the confirmation order resolves the objection.

What remains unresolved are a couple of claims, if we can take them up in whatever order the Court would like. But one is an objection to the releases to Dymas and to -- and other third parties.

THE COURT: Yes.

MR. DREBSKY: As to what is in the plan, and I can represent as to any claims that are personal to Mr. Paladini, this plan doesn't affect it. The releases to third parties do not affect any claims that are personal for Mr. Paladini. The objection seemed to indicate that there was a feeling that what was in the plan restricted his rights. Of course, the debtor has granted releases to various parties, such as Dymas and the lenders and, frankly, one only has to look at the DIP order, where those releases are noted without with any right of setoff

б

## CD LIQUIDATION CO. LLC ET AL., CD LIQU. CO. v. MARCELO PALADINI

Page 25

blah, blah, blah, blah, blah, blah. And I just note for the record that Mr. Paladini was a party to that DIP order and, in fact, signed the notes that are the Exhibit A to those orders.

And we don't believe that the releases contained in the plan, one -- again, as to any personal claims that Mr. Paladini has, he has it -- as to the claims against Dymas, we have -- we had a period to investigate those claims, as you remember, as did the committee. And we took that quite seriously; we investigated the claims, we looked at seeing that they were proper and if there any other claims that could be asserted against, frankly, any of the lenders because -- for lots of reasons. One is our fiduciary duty to do so and two, we increase recoveries for others if there were some holes in it.

We did not find any reason to approach this Court with claims against any of the lenders and I believe the committee will speak for itself; the committee undertook a similar investigation and no claims were found. I will say that during that period, no party, including Mr. Paladini, came to either the debtor or the committee with any suggestions of wrongdoing by any party that should be further investigated. And with that, the period ended and, basically, the releases that are contained in the DIP order became final. I will say, also, as to Dymas and the other lenders as well, they have made significant contributions to the reorganization effort.

	CD LIQUIDATION CO. LLC ET AL., CD LIQU. CO. v. MARCELO PALADINI
	Page 63
1	you I haven't even said that I am going to enter the order
2	confirming the plan. I find that all of the requirements of
3	section 1129 have been accruing that and the findings of fact
4	and conclusions of law in the order themselves are reflect
5	the Court's ruling. And I will be pleased to sign that order.
6	MS. MELTZER: Thank you, Your Honor. May I approach?
7	THE COURT: You may.
8	MS. MELTZER: Thank you, Your Honor.
9	MR. SPELFOGEL: Your Honor, just one point of
10	clarification.
11	THE COURT: Mr. Spelfogel.
12	MR. SPELFOGEL: With respect to the injunction, which
13	Your Honor did not overrule in
14	THE COURT: Right.
15	MR. SPELFOGEL: connection with third-party claims,
16	we would ask that some language be inserted into that order,
17	which we can give to Mr. Drebsky, consistent with that. I
18	don't believe that that was put into the revised order. I know
19	Mr. Drebsky has made a representations on the record and with
20	no other transcript, the preference would be to include that in
21	the order but however Your Honor directs on that issue.
22	Thank you.
23	MR. DREBSKY: To date, my representations have always
24	been fulfilled and there is, I think, in this matter rather

delay the confirmation in the time period, I would think my

	Page 64
1	representation should be enough. I hope it's enough for this
2	Court to grant the order as presented.
3	THE COURT: And my ruling finding that the plan should
4	be confirmed incorporates those representations, Mr. Drebsky,
5	namely, that the injunction does not limit personal claims from
6	being pursued.
7	MR. DREBSKY: If I could say one more thing, of
8	course, in all the thank you I really did forget the U.S.
9	Trustee, who's sitting there
10	THE COURT: Always.
11	MR. DREBSKY: who really has been very helpful in
12	moving this case along and in giving wise counsel, especially
13	at the outset of this case, and I apologize for not thanking
14	Mr. Tinker explicitly.
15	THE COURT: Thank you, Mr. Drebsky. I certainly agree
16	with that.
17	MS. MELTZER: Your Honor, we have one last item on the
18	agenda.
19	THE COURT: Yes, we do.
20	MS. MELTZER: Item number 5 is the pre-trial
21	conference in the CD Liquidation v. Marcelo Paladini matter and
22	I will turn it over to the committee to address that.
23	THE COURT: All right, thank you.
<b>4</b>	Mr. Recupero?
25	MR. RECUPERO: Good afternoon, Your Honor. Brendan

	OF ENGLISHMEN CONTROL OF THE ACTION OF THE A
	Page 65
1	Recupero, of Jager Smith, on behalf of the official committee
2	of unsecured creditors. As Your Honor is aware, that the
3	committee obtained standing to commence certain causes of
4	action against insiders; I believe the date was July 16th,
5	2010. Since then we have commenced one adversary proceeding
6	against Mr. Paladini. Mr. Paladini's counsel is here today.
7	Through a stipulation, the parties have provided some
8	additional time to Mr. Paladini to answer or otherwise move;
9	that deadline expired last Friday, and Mr. Paladini has filed a
10	motion to dismiss. The parties are currently discussing,
11	although I have not had an opportunity to speak with Mr.
12	Spelfogel prior to today's hearing, the time frame in which the
13	committee has to respond to the motion to dismiss but we would
14	ask that the Court permit the parties to discuss and perhaps
15	file a further stipulation setting forth that deadline and work
16	on establishing other time frames with regards to this case.
17	Thank you.
18	THE COURT: All right, Mr. Recupero.
19	Mr. Spelfogel?
20	MR. SPELFOGEL: Yes, Your Honor, I'll be very brief.
21	I know it's a long day.
22	THE COURT: Your motion, I see, was filed on the
23	17th?
24	MR. SPELFOGEL: Correct, Your Honor. The motion was

25: filed, I guess, pursuant to the rules on the system. The reply

#### **CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE**

I, Eric Sutty, hereby certify that I caused a copy of the Objection by Marcelo Paladini to Motion by Moneris Solutions and BMO Harris Bank NA to Enforce Settlement Agreement and for Related Relief to be served via CM/ECF on all parties who have entered a notice of appearance in this matter pursuant to Fed. R. Bankr. P. 2002 and upon the following parties in the manner indicated:

#### VIA HAND DELIVERY

Joseph N. Argentina, Jr., Esquire Howard Cohen, Esquire Drinker Biddle & Reath LLP 1100 N. Market Suite, Suite 1000 Wilmington, DE 19801

#### VIA FIRST CLASS U.S. MAIL

R. Jeffrey Pollock, Esquire Heather Kern, Esquire McDonald Hopkins LLC 600 Superior Avenue, East, Suite 2100 Cleaveland, OH 44114

#### VIA HAND DELIVERY

Christopher A. Ward, Esquire Justin K. Edelson, Esquire Shanti M. Katona, Esquire Polsinelli Shughart 222 Delaware Avenue, Suite 1100 Wilmington, DE 19801

#### VIA FIRST CLASS U.S. MAIL

Alison D. Bauer, Esquire Christopher M. Caparelli, Esquire TORYS LLP 1114 Avenue of the Americas 23<sup>rd</sup> Floor New York, New York, 10036

#### VIA FIRST CLASS U.S. MAIL

Stephen M. Gross, Esquire Jeffrey S. Grasl, Esquire John E. Benko, Esquire McDonald Hopkins LLC 39533 Woodward Avenue, Suite 318 Bloomfield Hills, MI 48304

### VIA FIRST CLASS U.S. MAIL

David A. Agay, Esquire McDonald Hopkins LLC 300 N. LaSalle St., Suite 2100 Chicago, IL 60654

Eric M. Sutty (DE Bar No. 4007)